



Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1411 (1999) 290-309

Review Nitric oxide and iron proteins

Chris E. Cooper *

Department of Biological Sciences, Central Campus, University of Essex, Wivenhoe Park, Colchester CO4 3SQ, UK

Received 5 August 1998; received in revised form 10 December 1998; accepted 16 December 1998

Abstract

Nitric oxide interactions with iron are the most important biological reactions in which NO participates. Reversible binding to ferrous haem iron is responsible for the observed activation of guanylate cyclase and inhibition of cytochrome oxidase. Unlike carbon monoxide or oxygen, NO can also bind reversibly to ferric iron. The latter reaction is responsible for the inhibition of catalase by NO. NO reacts with the oxygen adduct of ferrous haem proteins (e.g. oxyhaemoglobin) to generate nitrate and ferric haem; this reaction is responsible for the majority of NO metabolism in the vasculature. NO can also interact with iron–sulphur enzymes (e.g. aconitase, NADH dehydrogenase). This review describes the underlying kinetics, thermodynamics, mechanisms and biological role of the interactions of NO with iron species (protein and non-protein bound). The possible significance of iron reactions with reactive NO metabolites, in particular peroxynitrite and nitroxyl anion, is also discussed. © 1999 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Nitric oxide; Iron; Peroxynitrite; Nitroxyl anion; Kinetics; Mechanism

Contents

1.	Introduction	291
2.	Binding reactions of NO and iron2.1. Binding of NO to ferrous iron2.2. Binding of NO to ferric iron	291 291 294
3.	Chemical reactivity of NO with iron	296 296 296 297 298
	cautionary note	298

Abbreviations: Hb, haemoglobin; EDTA, ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid; DNIC, dinitrosylirondithiol complex; IRE, iron-responsive element; IRP, iron regulatory protein; mitochondrial complex I, mitochondrial NADH dehydrogenase; mitochondrial complex II, succinate dehydrogenase; mitochondrial complex III, cytochrome bc_1 complex

^{*} Fax: +44 (1206) 872592; E-mail: ccooper@essex.ac.uk

4.	Reactions of NO-related compounds with iron	298
	4.1. Nitroxyl anion	298
	4.2. Peroxynitrite	299
5.	NO and iron in biological systems: which chemical reactivity is relevant to which biology?	300
	5.1. Non-protein bound iron	300
	5.2. Haem proteins	300
	5.3. Non-haem iron proteins	301
	5.4. Iron-sulphur proteins	302
	5.5. NO, iron proteins and mitochondrial respiration: what is the target?	304
6.	Conclusion	305
Acl	xnowledgements	305
Ref	èrences	305

1. Introduction

The interaction of nitric oxide with metals has been studied since the early years of this century [1]. It is unlikely that the chemists of that time would have imagined that as the millennium approached there would still be unsolved questions about metal: NO interactions, nor that these would be addressed primarily by life scientists, not inorganic chemists.

Nitric oxide can bind to most transition metals [2]. However, its interactions with iron are by far the most studied transition metal:NO reactions (Fig. 1). The main NO signal transduction pathway so far elucidated, the activation of guanylate cyclase, proceeds via direct binding of NO to haem iron [3]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that NO binding to ferrous haem in cytochrome oxidase [4–7], ferric haem in catalase [8] and iron or sulphur atoms in iron–sulphur proteins [9,10] can all occur under physiological or pathophysiological conditions.

This review will be an overview of the chemical interaction of nitric oxide with iron in biological systems, with particular emphasis on the benefits and disadvantages of the selection of iron proteins as evolutionary targets for NO action. By the very nature of the field, the papers cited will be a selection of those available, chosen to highlight the chemical points made ('nitric oxide+iron' yielding 129 hits in a search of the Science Citation Index for papers published in 1997 alone). The reader is directed to other reviews in this area for more detailed discussion of the chemistry [2,11–15] and spectroscopy

[16,17] of iron reactions with NO. In particular, there are many relevant chapters, especially with regard to spectroscopic techniques, in several recent books describing methodology in nitric oxide research [18–21].

The reactions of NO with iron can be divided depending upon whether they involve mere binding or binding+metabolism. The redox state of the iron (ferrous, ferric or ferryl) also dramatically modulates whether binding is favoured over metabolism, and in the former case the strength of the iron–NO bond.

2. Binding reactions of NO and iron

2.1. Binding of NO to ferrous iron

$$NO + Fe^{2+} \leftrightarrow Fe^{2+} - NO \tag{1}$$

NO binds reversibly to ferrous iron. Table 1 illustrates the relative on rates, off rates, and dissociation constants for this reaction in a selection of biological and chemical systems. It is instructive to compare NO binding to that of CO and O_2 for a number of reasons: (1) their size, charge (neutral) and hydrophobicity are similar suggesting similar access to cellular iron pools, whether the latter are low-molecular-weight or protein-bound; (2) O_2 (and to a lesser extent CO) is likely to be present in higher concentrations in most in vivo situations than NO and therefore could theoretically compete for NO binding sites on ferrous iron; and (3) once bound, the paramagnetic properties of NO and O_2 result in the addition of unpaired electrons to the system with the



Fig. 1. Publications in 1997 describing nitric oxide interactions with transition metals. An initial search of titles in the Science Citation Index for 1997 was made. Articles were selected on the basis that they contained both the words 'nitric oxide' and a transition metal. The abstracts of the articles selected were then read and only articles describing direct NO/metal interactions were selected. The total number of such articles was 33. The distribution between different transition metals is illustrated in the pie chart above. In fact, there was little change if the abstract checking procedure was ignored. A similar direct search using the titles, keywords, and abstract fields also revealed the preponderance of references on iron (129 out of the 260 articles selected).

result that, unlike CO, simple reversible binding is not always the only interaction observed.

CO, NO and O₂ can all bind reversibly to ferrous iron. In most proteins, oxygen metabolism by ferrous iron is faster than its dissociation and therefore the oxygen adduct is not stable. The exception, of course, is in the oxygen-transport proteins, such as haemoglobin and myoglobin, which make stable O₂ adducts with measurable on and off rates. A general comparison for the on rates reveals that O₂ and NO have similar rates (in the order 10^7-10^8 M⁻¹ s⁻¹). CO on rates, however, are considerable lower (always $< 10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$). However, the most interesting comparison is in the off rates. The greater affinity of NO over CO for ferrous haem is reflected in both a faster on rate and a slower off rate; in some cases the dissociation rate is so slow ($< 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1}$) as to be technically very difficult to measure. This creates clear problems for the role of NO as a signalling molecule. For example, the half-time of guanylate cyclase deactivation when NO is removed is less than a minute, which is clearly impossible if NO dissociates from this enzyme as slowly as from haemoglobin or myoglobin. A similar problem exists for mitochondrial respiration where there is clear evidence that low levels of NO generate the ferrous cytochrome oxidase–NO complex, yet respiration returns to normal within seconds once NO is removed from the solution.

As NO binds so tightly to ferrous haem, it has been suggested that it might be easier to remove the haem-NO complex from the protein rather than simply dissociate the NO from the haem. NO can dissociate the trans ligand from haem iron and, therefore, has the potential to destabilise haem binding to the protein. Indeed guanylate cyclase is frequently purified as an apoprotein (without the haem cofactor). It has therefore been suggested that NOinduced haem dissociation may be responsible for changes in enzyme activity in vivo [11,13]. Although this seems an intrinsically inefficient mechanism for short-term regulation of the NO signal, haem dissociation may be important [11] in limiting cGMP synthesis following prolonged exposure to high NO concentrations (and may therefore be a contributing factor in the development of nitroglycerin tolerance). In fact, recent data demonstrates that haem dissociation from proteins is unnecessary for fast NO dissociation and that proteins are able to modify the microenvironment of the iron-nitrosyl bond to have substantially higher than expected dissociation rates for NO: 0.05 s^{-1} for guanylate cyclase [30] and 0.13 s^{-1} for cytochrome oxidase [29]. Thus, increased NO dissociation rates within proteins allow NO to have a short-term role in increasing cyclic GMP levels or in modulating mitochondrial respiration. The on rates for NO are fixed at about $10^8 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ for most ferrous haem proteins; this suggests, paradoxically, that NO binds weaker to ferrous iron in its target molecules than to other haem proteins, e.g. myoglobin or haemoglobin.

Comparisons of NO binding between haem proteins and low molecular weight non-haem iron complexes are not straightforward as many of the studies on the latter are carried out at rather acid pH values (given the problems of maintaining the ferrous iron in solution at neutral pH). However, Table 1 reveals that most of these complexes (including some measured at close to physiological pH) have significantly less affinity for NO than haem proteins. In particular the fast off rates suggest that in vivo NO will not get Table 1

Compound O₂ off O2 disso-NO on NO off NO disso-CO on CO off CO disso-References O₂ on rate ciation ciation rate ciation rate rate rate rate $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$ (s^{-1}) $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$ $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$ (s^{-1}) constant $(M^{-1} s^{-1})$ constant constant (M) (\mathbf{M}) (M) 5×10^{7} 3×10^{-7} 1.8×10^{-5} 0.9×10^{-12} 6.0×10^{6} 1.7×10^{-9} Haemoglobin 15 2×10^{7} 0.01 [22] (R-state) 4.5×10^{6} 1900 4.2×10^{-4} 2×10^{7} 3×10^{-3} 1.5×10^{-10} 8.3×10^{4} 0.09 1.1×10^{-6} Haemoglobin [22,23] (T-state) Myoglobin 1.4×10^{7} 10 7.1×10^{-7} 1.7×10^{7} 1.2×10^{-4} 0.7×10^{-11} 5.0×10^{5} 0.17 3.4×10^{-7} [24,25] 2.9×10^{-5} Cytochrome c 8.3×10^{0} 3.5×10^{-6} [26,27] 1×10^{8} 1.3×10^{-9} 7×10^{4} 3×10^{-7} Cytochrome 1×10^{8} 0.13 0.023 [28,29] oxidase 1×10^{-12} 7×10^{-4} Guanylate 7×10^{8} [30,31] cyclase 0.05 0.7×10^{-10} -Guanylate 7×10^{8} [30,31] cyclase+GTP and Mg²⁺ Fe^{2+} (acac)₂, 4×10^{2} 24 5.9×10^{-2} [32] pH 6.6 Fe²⁺ citrate, 6.6×10^{2} 4.4×10^{5} 1.5×10^{-3} [32] pH 5.1 1×10^{-6} Fe²⁺ EDTA, $> 6 \times 10^7$ > 60[32-34] pH 5.1 Fe(H₂O)₆ ²⁺ 6.2×10^{5} 1.4×10^{3} 2×10^{-3} [35] (in sulphuric acid)

A comparison of the kinetic and thermodynamic constants for nitric oxide, carbon monoxide and oxygen binding to ferrous iron in different proteins and model systems

The references in the table refer to the nitric oxide data. Values for CO and O₂ binding taken from references [36–38]. –, not determined or not measurable. The pH for the protein studies was in the physiological range (7–7.4). The pH for the inorganic complexes is indicated in the table. Apart from the case of Fe^{2+} EDTA, the dissociation constant has been determined as the ratio of the off and on rates, rather than being measured directly.

'trapped' in non-protein iron pools. Interestingly, model haem iron complexes can have very high affinity for NO [25,27] and this demonstrates that the polypeptide chain is not required to facilitate NO binding to haem proteins. Instead, the role of the protein microenvironment is likely to be to regulate the strength of binding (and subsequent protein conformation and activity changes) to the physiological requirements.

There is one further important point to make about NO binding to haem proteins. In stark contrast to CO and O_2 , NO in general binds more tightly to ferrous iron in the absence of a *trans* ligand [13]. In practice, this means that NO binding will frequently dissociate the *trans* ligand; alternatively, the binding of a *trans* ligand can force NO dissociation. The former effect has been demonstrated in a number of proteins by EPR spectroscopy as the 5coordinate and 6-coordinate complexes have distinct spectra [39]. In guanylate cyclase, for example, binding of NO displaces the proximal histidine ligand and this may induce conformational changes in the protein that increase the cyclase activity [3] (as well as increasing the tendency for haem dissociation described above).

Conversely, changing the protein's structure to force a ligand to bind *trans* to the NO (and hence weaken the Fe^{2+} -NO bond) is one possible answer to the biological necessity of removing NO from ferrous haem proteins. NO dissociation from 6-coordinate model haems occurs at least 1000 times faster than from otherwise similar 5-coordinate haems [25]. The dissociation rate of NO from guanylate cyclase is increased 100-fold (Table 1) in the presence of



Fig. 2. (A) Geometry of binding of nitric oxide, oxygen and carbon monoxide to ferrous haem iron. NO and O_2 bind in a 130–150° angle. CO prefers a linear geometry, but due to the presence of steric hindrance in the distal side of the haem pocket is frequently forced to bind with a non-preferred bent angle. Thus, as well as the intrinsic weakness of the Fe(II)–CO bond (compared to that of Fe(II)–NO), steric factors can further contribute to the increased affinity of haem proteins for NO, rather than CO. (B) Possible effects of NO on *trans* ligand binding (and vice versa) in ferrous haem nitrosyl complexes. Unlike CO and O_2 , NO binding decreases the affinity of a *trans* ligand and can thus dissociate it, forming a 5-coordinate complex. The displaced ligand (L) can either directly perform enzyme catalysis (e.g. acid/base chemistry if it is a histidine) or induce protein conformational changes that affect catalysis at sites distant to the haem. Similarly, forcing a *trans* ligand to bond to a 5-coordinate nitrosyl complex weakens the Fe–NO bond and may induce NO dissociation.

 Mg^{2+} and GTP. GTP has been shown to perturb the Raman spectrum of the Fe²⁺–NO bond [40] and it may therefore increase NO dissociation by forcing the proximal histidine to re-bind to the iron [30].

These different roles of NO, CO and O_2 as ferrous haem ligands are illustrated in Fig. 2.

2.2. Binding of NO to ferric iron

$$NO + Fe^{3+} \leftrightarrow Fe^{3+} - NO (Fe^{2+} - NO^+)$$
(2)

Another distinction between NO binding to iron and that of CO and O_2 , is that NO can also bind reversibly to ferric iron. In contrast to the case with

Compound	On rate $(M^{-1 s-1})$	Off rate (s^{-1})	Dissociation constant (M)	Reference
Haemoglobin	4×10^{3}	1	2.5×10^{-4}	[41]
Haemoglobin α -chains	3.3×10^{3}	2.1	1.4×10^{-4}	[41]
Haemoglobin β-chains	1.3×10^{4}	3	2.3×10^{-4}	[41]
Myoglobin (sperm whale)	5.3×10^{4}	14	2.6×10^{-4}	[27,42,43]
Myoglobin (elephant)	2.2×10^{7}	40	1.8×10^{-6}	[41]
Microperoxidase	1.1×10^{6}	3.4	3.1×10^{-6}	[42]
Cytochrome c	1×10^{3}	0.03	3×10^{-5}	[27,43,44]
Catalase	2×10^{6}	1	5×10^{-7}	This paper (see text)
	3×10^{7}	170	6×10^{-6}	[27]

 Table 2

 Kinetic and thermodynamic constants for nitric oxide binding to different forms of ferric iron

For haemoglobin, myoglobin and microperoxidase, the dissociation constant has been determined as the ratio of the off and on rates, rather than being measured directly. For catalase and cytochrome c, direct measurements of the dissociation constant gave very close agreement to that determined from the kinetic data.

Fe²⁺, a linear geometry of the Fe³⁺–NO bond is favoured [45]. Optical and EPR spectroscopy [45] suggest that the unpaired electron originating from NO transfers to the iron atom, making the spincoupled ferrous–nitrosonium formulation more accurate in this case (Fe²⁺–NO⁺). This is consistent with the linear Fe–N–O bond as this is the favoured geometry for NO⁺ ligation [12]. Table 2 illustrates the kinetic and thermodynamic parameters for this reaction. It can clearly be seen that NO binds less tightly to ferric, as opposed to ferrous, iron. The NO onrate can approach $10^7 \text{ M}^{-1} \text{ s}^{-1}$ when the distal side of the haem is free as in catalase, elephant myoglobin (which lacks a distal histidine ligand) or the 5-coordinate artificial undecapeptide microperoxidase; however, for all proteins (Table 2) and model haems [27] the off rate for the ferric–NO complex is much faster (by between 10^4 and 10^8 times) than for the respective ferrous–NO complex.



Fig. 3. Structures of some important non-haem iron nitrosyl complexes. Iron-sulphur-dinitrosyl complexes are detectable in most physiological circumstances where NO production is enhanced. Sodium nitroprusside is a NO donor used to induce hypotension clinically. Diethyldithiocarbamate makes an iron complex that readily binds NO and has been used to trap NO in a number of animal models of human diseases where NO overproduction is implicated (e.g. sepsis, hypoxia-ischaemia, transplant rejection).

NO binding to ferric haem is also less reversible than to ferrous haem and, in many cases, reductive nitrosylation converts the ferric–NO complex to the ferrous iron (cf. later). Even this reaction, however, occurs slowly on the biological time scale (with a half-life of 10 min at neutral pH for haemoglobin, and longer for other proteins [43,45].

The only enzyme where it has been suggested where NO may inhibit the ferric form is catalase [8]. However, the apparent K_i (0.3 µM) measured by enzyme inhibition seems too high for the reported K_d (5 µM) measured spectroscopically [27]. This K_d was measured in an unbuffered solution of ill-defined pH. We have re-measured the K_d at pH 7 (C. Cooper and P. Nicholls unpublished observations) and found a value of 0.5 µM (Table 2) consistent with a role for NO binding to ferric haem in the observed inhibition of catalase at this pH [8].

3. Chemical reactivity of NO with iron

3.1. NO and ferrous iron

Although reversible binding reactions predominate (cf. earlier) some metabolism of Fe²⁺-NO complexes can occur. This is likely to be important with the very stable haem-NO complexes (e.g. nitrosyl haemoglobin) as otherwise given the very slow off rates, there would be a significant accumulation of these complexes in vivo. For example the dissociation rate of the Hb²⁺-NO complex is approximately 1×10^{-5} s⁻¹; yet the half-life for the Hb²⁺–NO complex in vivo following removal of an NO stimulus is 15 min [46], suggesting a much faster dissociation rate. This anomaly can be explained by the reaction of nitrosyl haemoglobin (or myoglobin) with oxygen which generates methaemoglobin and nitrate. Different mechanisms have been proposed for this reaction. However, given that the Fe²⁺–NO dissociation rate $(1 \times 10^{-5} \text{ s}^{-1})$ is slower than observed rates of Fe²⁺-NO conversion to metmyoglobin and nitrite (which can be as high as 1×10^{-3} s⁻¹ at saturating oxygen tension), it seems likely that a direct reaction occurs in the haem pocket between oxygen and the nitrosyl complex, perhaps generating an intermediate haem-peroxynitrite adduct [47].

$$\mathrm{Fe}^{2+} - \mathrm{NO} + \mathrm{O}_2 \rightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{3+} - \mathrm{ONOO}^- \rightarrow \mathrm{Fe}^{3+} + \mathrm{NO}_3^-$$
(3)

Clearly, this mechanism opens the possibility of some peroxynitrite formation if dissociation can occur prior to the coordinate sphere rearrangement that forms nitrate.

3.2. NO and ferric iron

Some Fe³⁺–NO complexes are quite stable (e.g. catalase, horse radish peroxidase, cytochrome *c* peroxidase), whereas others (e.g. metmyoglobin, methaemoglobin, cytochrome *c*) react further [43,45, 48]. In the case of haemoglobin and myoglobin, an autoreduction process in the presence of NO leads to the Fe²⁺–NO complex. The ferric–NO autoreduction reaction is best characterised by a water (Eq. 5) or hydroxide (Eq. 6) attack on the ferrous nitrosonium ion complex formed following NO addition to the ferric iron (Eq. 4)

$$NO + Fe^{3+} \leftrightarrow Fe^{3+} - NO (Fe^{2+} - NO^{+})$$
(4)

followed by:

$$Fe^{2+} - NO^+ + OH^- \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + NO_2^- + H^+$$
 (5)

or:

$$Fe^{2+} - NO^+ + H_2O \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + NO_2^- + 2H^+$$
 (6)

In the case of autoreduction of the ferricytochrome c-NO complex, ferrocytochrome c is the normal product as the ferrocytochrome c nitrosyl complex forms so slowly at neutral pH [43,44,49]. However, for myoglobin and haemoglobin the ferrous iron further reacts with the NO in the solution to form the ferrous nitrosyl complex:

$$Fe^{2+} + NO \rightarrow Fe^{2+} - NO$$
 (7)

An alternative mechanism has been suggested involving binding of a second molecule of NO prior to the hydrolysis reaction [45]. However, at least in the case of cytochrome c, this mechanism is not valid



Fig. 4. An overview of haem iron:NO interreactions and their importance. An overview of the interactions of nitric oxide and haem iron described in the text, indicating the most biologically relevant reactions.

because, as described above, ferrocytochrome c, not the ferrous nitrosyl complex, is the end-product of the interaction of ferricytochrome c with NO [43,44,49].

These reactions are relatively slow [43]. The rate constant for Eq. 5 is 3.2×10^3 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ for methaemoglobin, 1.5×10^3 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ for ferricytochrome *c*, and 1.5×10^2 M⁻¹ s⁻¹ for metmyoglobin. Therefore, although at pH 10 the half-life of a 0.1 μ M methaemoglobin–NO solution would be 2 s, at pH 8, it would be 200 s. Eq. 6 appears to occur at a significant rate only in the methaemoglobin–NO case where a rate constant of 1.1×10^{-3} s⁻¹ has been measured [43]. Therefore, at pH 7 and below, methaemoglobin–NO still decays with a half-life of approximately 500 s, whilst metmyoglobin–NO and ferricytochrome *c*–NO are significantly more stable.

Although of chemical interest, the biological relevance of these slow reactions is hard to discern. The end-products are non-toxic and the relative slow formation rates and affinities (Table 1) of the ferric nitrosyl complexes will ensure that these pathways are only of minor importance in vivo.

3.3. NO and ferryl iron

Ferryl iron $(Fe^{4+} = O^{2-})^{2+}$ is a strong oxidising agent essential for many enzyme-catalysed reactions (e.g. catalases, peroxidases) and may also play a role in pathophysiological processes [50]. There have been no studies demonstrating that NO binds to this species, but reduction of ferryl by NO has been demonstrated in a number of cases [51,52]. The reaction is slow (minutes) compared to more readily available biological antioxidants (e.g. ascorbate), even in the presence of 1.6 mM NO [52]. Although a much faster reduction is seen when NO is added to ferryl cytochrome oxidase [53], we attribute this to side-reactions following rapid NO binding and metabolism at the copper in the enzyme's haem:copper binuclear centre. The inhibition of catalase discussed previously also seems readily explainable via the reaction of NO with ferric iron, and not the ferryl intermediate. Therefore as the interaction of NO with ferryl intermediates is slow even at unphysiologically high NO concentrations this reaction appears unlikely to be of biological relevance.

3.4. NO and iron-oxy complexes

NO rapidly reacts with the oxy-complex of haem proteins (e.g. oxygenated haemoglobin or myoglobin). The product is nitrate and the ferric (met) protein [54]. The rate has been determined to be 4×10^7 M^{-1} s⁻¹ [55], similar to NO binding to ferrous haem enzymes (Table 1). The iron–oxygen interaction in oxyhaemoglobin has both covalent (Hb^{II}–O₂) and ionic characteristics (Hb³⁺–O₂⁻). The reaction mechanism with NO is best understood assuming the ionic character of this complex (i.e. ferric:superoxide). As with the reaction of Hb²⁺–NO with O₂ (cf. earlier) it has been suggested that a transient haem-bound peroxynitrite intermediate is formed [55], in this case, via the interaction of NO with the bound superoxide.

$$\operatorname{Fe}^{3+} - \operatorname{O}_2^{\bullet-} + \operatorname{NO} \to \operatorname{Fe}^{3+} - \operatorname{ONOO}^- \to \operatorname{Fe}^{3+} + \operatorname{NO}_3^-$$
(8)

The speed of this reaction and the large concentration of oxyhaemoglobin in the blood suggests that this is the major reason for the rapid removal of NO in the vasculature.

3.5. NO reactivity with iron proteins is not always due to direct action at the iron site: a cautionary note

One must be careful not to underestimate the protein moiety when studying the reactions of NO with iron proteins. In particular, sulphydryl groups and free radical intermediates are both likely to be targets for NO reactivity and, unless careful spectroscopy is undertaken, reactions outside the iron centre may be falsely attributed to NO binding to iron. Examples of iron proteins where this occurs include haemoglobin, where the formation of cysteine S–NO complexes has been shown to modulate haemoglobin reactivity with oxygen [56]. Recent data suggest that mitochondrial complex I (NADH dehydrogenase) is reversibly inhibited by NO, not at its myriad iron centres, but instead via R–SNO formation at a sulphydryl site [9]. In the case of the non-haem iron enzyme ribonucleotide reductase NO binds both to -SH residues [57] and to a tyrosine radical essential for enzyme activity [14,57–59] and disentangling inhibitory effects at these sites from possible direct effects on the dinuclear iron centre is therefore not trivial.

4. Reactions of NO-related compounds with iron

4.1. Nitroxyl anion

The putative role of nitroxyl anion in biology is controversial [60–62]. However, it has been suggested that it is the initial product of the enzyme nitric oxide synthase [63] and that it can also be formed when NO reacts with ferrocytochrome c [44]. The reactions of NO⁻ with iron are relatively straightforward. It forms a ferrous nitrosyl complex following addition to ferric haem proteins. The rate constant for the reaction of NO⁻ with ferric haem proteins is unknown, but product analysis shows that it is competitive with the rapid decomposition rate of NO⁻ to N₂O [64] or its reaction with oxygen to form peroxynitrite [44,65]. Two mechanisms are possible depending on whether outer sphere electron transfer is involved or not:

$$Fe^{3+} + NO^- \rightarrow Fe^{2+} + NO \rightarrow Fe^{2+} - NO$$
 (9)

or:

$$Fe^{3+} + NO^- \rightarrow Fe^{3+} - NO^- \rightarrow Fe^{2+} - NO$$
 (10)

In the presence of a large excess of oxygen, the nitroxyl anion is still able to form a myoglobin nitrosyl complex [44]. Given that the rate constants for oxygen and NO binding to Fe²⁺ are similar, and that the oxy-complex would then react with free NO to form ferric(met) myoglobin, these results suggest that free NO in solution would not be able to form the nitrosyl complex under these conditions; this effectively rules out Eq. 9 and favours Eq. 10, [64]. However, in the case of ferricytochrome c [54], Eq. 9 must be favoured as the initial product is ferrocytochrome c (at pH 7 the formation of the ferrous nitrosyl complex is so slow that the intermediate ferrocytochrome c is clearly seen).

Nitroxyl anion also reacts rapidly with oxy- and deoxy-haemoglobin and myoglobin. In the case of the deoxy species, both Fe^{3+} and Fe^{2+} –NO species can be formed, whereas the oxy form results in stoichiometric conversion to the ferric(met) form. The overall stoichiometry is outlined in Eqs. 11 and 12, but the detailed reaction mechanisms are controversial [54,66]; in the case of deoxyhaemoglobin, NO⁻ has been suggested to be a catalyst for a complicated set of reactions between nitrite and deoxyhaemoglobin [54].

$$2Fe^{2+} - O_2 + NO^- \rightarrow 2Fe^{3+} + NO_3^- + O_2^{2-}$$
(11)

$$2Fe^{2+} + H^+ + NO_{2-} \xrightarrow{NO^-} Fe^{3+} + Fe^{2+} - NO + OH^-$$
(12)

4.2. Peroxynitrite

It has been suggested [11,67] that peroxynitrite can generate a reactive nitronium ion (NO_2^+) intermediate via binding to ferric iron (e.g. in iron–EDTA). This can have pathological implications as it can proceed to oxidise a variety of phenolic compounds, including tyrosine:

$$\mathrm{F}\mathrm{e}^{3+} + \mathrm{ONOO}^{-} \rightarrow \mathrm{F}\mathrm{e}^{2+} - \mathrm{O}^{\delta-} - \mathrm{NO}_2^{\delta+} \tag{13}$$

followed by:

$$Fe^{2+} - O^{\delta-} - NO_2^{\delta+} + phenol$$

$$\rightarrow NO_2 - phenol + H^+ + Fe^{2+} - O^-$$
(14)

followed by:

$$Fe^{2+} - O^- + 2H^+ \to Fe^{3+} + H_2O$$
 (15)

These reactions require that the phenolic compound can react with the nitronium ion intermediate, and may therefore be more likely to occur in lowmolecular-weight iron complexes than in metalloproteins (where there may be restricted access for such molecules). Furthermore many ferric haem proteins can stabilise ferryl intermediates and this provides an alternative pathway for the species generated above to dissociate:

$$Fe^{2+} - O^{\delta-} - NO_2^{\delta+} \rightarrow Fe^{4+} = O^{2-} + NO_2$$
 (16)

Depending on whether NO_2^- or NO_2 is the leaving

group, the overall effect is that peroxynitrite can act as a one-electron or two-electron oxidant for ferric haem proteins. It can thus convert ferric iron to the ferryl intermediates with or without formation of a cation radical [68].

$$Fe^{3+} + ONOO^{-} + R \rightarrow (Fe^{4+} = O^{2-})^{2+} + R^{*+} + NO_2^{-}$$
(17)

$$Fe^{3+} + ONOO^{-} \rightarrow (Fe^{4+} = O^{2-})^{2+} + NO_2$$
 (18)

One electron oxidation (Eq. 18) seems favoured in the case of lactoperoxidase and myeloperoxidase, whereas two-electron oxidation (Eq. 17) occurs for horseradish peroxidase [68]. Clearly these reactions have possible pathophysiological significance as ferryl iron and the associated free radical species (e.g. ferryl haemoglobin and ferryl myoglobin) are associated with oxidative stress damage to cells [69]. They also shed some doubt on the proposed ferric peroxynitrite intermediate in the reactions of oxyhaemoglobin with NO and nitrosyl haemoglobin with O_2 (Eqs. 3 and 8); according to the above mechanisms, one would expect this intermediate to be converted into ferryl haemoglobin and nitrite, not methaemoglobin and nitrate.

Peroxynitrite reactions with ferrous haem proteins are less well-characterised. We have recently demonstrated that mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase catalyses the formation of nitric oxide from peroxynitrite [70]. This leads to *reversible* enzyme inhibition by the nitric oxide produced. However, we [70] and others [71] have demonstrated that at high concentrations of peroxynitrite (>100 μ M), cytochrome oxidase is *irreversibly* denatured; NO formation may therefore play a role in protecting cytochrome oxidase and other mitochondrial proteins from peroxynitrite-induced damage. The proposed mechanism is:

$$Fe^{2+} + 2H^+ + ONOO^- \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + NO + H_2O_2$$
(19)

Peroxynitrite can oxidise oxyhaemoglobin to methaemoglobin (forward rate 2.5×10^4 M⁻¹ s⁻¹) and reduce ferryl haemoglobin to methaemoglobin, although the reaction mechanisms are not well-characterised [72].

High concentrations of peroxynitrite can also

damage iron prosthetic groups in enzymes e.g. iron– sulphur clusters in aconitase [73,74] and haem groups in cytochrome oxidase [70]. These are not necessarily reactions that occur at the iron atom itself and may result from reactions with sulphydryl groups or porphyrins.

5. NO and iron in biological systems: which chemical reactivity is relevant to which biology?

5.1. Non-protein bound iron

Table 1 shows that non-protein bound iron can react with nitric oxide. However, it is unclear whether these reactions occur in vivo, or if they are, how important they are. Relevant studies are hard to do, given the unclear chemical nature of low-molecular-weight iron pools in cells [75,76]. One reaction that definitely does occur in vivo is the formation of iron-sulphur-nitrosyl complexes. Of these, one particular species, the dinitrosylirondithiol complex (DNIC) [77,78] is readily detectable by EPR spectroscopy (with a g-value in the region of 2.03–2.04) and has therefore been much studied (Fig. 3). This species has been detected in a wide variety of conditions from cancerous tissue [79] to the substantia nigra of Parkinson's disease brain tissue [80]. It is associated with excess NO production in a number of systems including macrophages, tumours, spinal cords, endothelial cells, pancreatic islets and hepatocytes (for extensive reviews of the presence and importance of this signal see [17,21,81,82]). A g = 2.04signal is almost invariably observed following prolonged incubation of any biological material with NO, or NO donors. It has been suggested that DNIC is diagnostic for damage to mitochondrial iron-sulphur enzymes [81]. However, quantitative studies of the amount of DNIC formed compared to the amount of iron-sulphur enzyme damage suggest that in many cases, the majority of the iron and sulphur in DNIC does not come primarily from preformed iron-sulphur centres in proteins [83,84]. DNIC can be readily made in vitro by the addition of ferrous iron, cysteine and NO [85]. It therefore seems likely that the low-molecular-weight iron pool is the main, though not exclusive, source of DNIC iron in vivo. It is not clear whether this

reaction perturbs iron metabolism detrimentally; although DNIC formation may have long-term consequences in vivo, short-term function (e.g. of mitochondrial electron transfer) seems unaffected by large increases in DNIC concentration [84].

Whilst the biological relevance of the reactions of non-protein bound iron with NO is unclear, the biomedical and spectroscopic implications of this chemistry have been readily exploited (Fig. 3). For example, sodium nitroprusside is a NO (or more precisely NO^+) donor used to lower blood pressure; NO chelators used to quantify NO in vivo frequently contain iron, the best known of which is the iron complex of diethyldithiocarbamate [86]. Recently NO imaging has been made possible by the use of narrow lines of the NO–Fe complex of *N*-(dithiocarboxy)sarcosine [87].

5.2. Haem proteins

The reactions of NO with haem enzymes are of obvious biological significance. The mammalian NO synthase [88] and the bacterial cd_1 nitrite reductase [89] both synthesise NO and both utilise haem co-factors. The best-characterised mammalian (guanylate cyclase [3]) and bacterial (nitric oxide reductase [90]) target enzymes for NO action, both contain haem iron. The similarity of NO with oxygen suggests that any haem enzyme that reacts with oxygen will be a potential target for NO inhibition (Table 1). Thus, whilst 6-coordinate low spin haem proteins (e.g. the mitochondrial cytochromes b and c) in general react poorly with oxygen (and therefore CO and NO), any high spin 5-coordinate haem enzymes that can bind and/or activate O2 will also bind NO. Such enzymes include cytochrome oxidase, the cytochrome P-450 superfamily and haemoglobin. Given the potential strength of NO binding to ferrous haem (and the consequent slow off rates (Table 1)), it is difficult to see how proteins with high spin ferrous haem can avoid being inhibited by NO. As an enzyme that expects to be in the presence of NO rather frequently, nitric oxide synthase, has not been able to completely avoid inhibition by NO [91], it is quite likely that all enzymes with high spin ferrous haem intermediates are inhibited by NO to some extent. It is also likely that this inhibition will be competitive with oxygen and CO as these bind to the same redox

state – the biological question to answer is whether the nM levels of NO usually present are below or above the relevant K_i . In the case of cytochrome oxidase, mechanisms seem to exist to make NO an even stronger inhibitor (probably due to the binuclear haem–copper nature of the oxygen reduction site), and it seems very likely that the inhibition here is significant under pathophysiological, and maybe physiological, conditions [4–6].

However, despite these findings, iron protein enzymology does not permanently grind to a halt for hours following the addition of excess nitric oxide. The solution to the problem of over tight binding of NO to ferrous haem enzymes seems to have been solved by biology via a combination of either preventing bond formation and/or increasing the rate of NO dissociation.

5.2.1. Prevention of Fe²⁺–NO formation

In the blood cell, NO rapidly reacts with oxyhaemoglobin to form methaemoglobin and nitrate. It is possible that other scavenging enzymes/proteins may prevent NO reaching especially sensitive enzymes in other parts of the body. Some haem enzymes have to react with NO as product or substrate (e.g. bacterial nitrite reductase and nitric oxide reductase). In this case, a complex reaction mechanism has been postulated to prevent the formation of a ferrous–nitrosyl bond during the reaction cycle [90].

5.2.2. Increase in the rate of Fe^{2+} -NO dissociation

The problem of the potential for NO to form strong ferrous nitrosyl bonds in proteins has been overcome in two different ways. Firstly the protein can be modified to increase this dissociation rate as appears to be the case in both guanylate cyclase and cytochrome oxidase; here the faster than expected dissociation rates for NO allowing the enzymes to rapidly become de-inhibited (over seconds, not minutes) when the NO stimulus is removed. Alternatively the Fe²⁺-NO complex can be 'metabolised'. Nitrosyl haemoglobin is stable for days anaerobically. In the presence of oxygen it is converted to nitrate and methaemoglobin (cf. earlier). The latter is then rapidly reduced to deoxyhaemoglobin by methaemoglobin reductase. Although this whole process still takes many minutes, the NO scavenging by oxyhaemoglobin described above means that the Hb–NO level never reaches a large fraction of the total Hb in the blood cell in the first place. Therefore, this rather leisurely pace of recycling of the active protein is sufficient to ensure that the very low Hb–NO dissociation constant (0.03 nM) does not result in all the blood haemoglobin ending in this inhibitory complex. In fact, even following endotoxaemia in the rat (the biological situation where probably NO production is at its maximum), at most, only 2% of the total haemoglobin concentration is trapped as Hb–NO [92].

Peroxidases and catalases generally do not form ferrous iron complexes in their reaction cycle; the weaker binding of NO to the ferric (Table 2) and ferryl states therefore makes these enzymes more resistant to NO inhibition (although catalase appears to be an exception here with strong NO binding due to the electron donating properties of the proximal tyrosinate ligand increasing the electronegativity of the ferric state [8]).

A summary of the interactions of haem iron and nitric oxide is illustrated in Fig. 4.

5.3. Non-haem iron proteins

The significance of the reactions of NO with nonhaem iron enzymes is less clear. Part of the problem, when comparing haem with non-haem iron enzymes, is that the lack of clear optical spectroscopic signals in the latter case means that far less work has been performed. However, EPR spectroscopy shows that ferrous iron in these enzymes can form well-characterised NO complexes (for a discussion of the iron spin states that result in EPR-detectable signals see [39]).

Again, enzymes that react with oxygen (e.g. monooxygenases and dioxygenases) have the potential to make nitrosyl complexes [16,93–95]. Relevant inhibition studies have only been carried out in a few cases. In the case of lipoxygenase, it has been determined that the levels of NO required for inhibition are higher than those normally found even under pathophysiological conditions [96]. This is in line with the fact that non-haem iron enzymes in general bind ligands at the iron site less tightly than haem proteins. In the case of NO, the ferrous iron frequently remains high spin (S=2) resulting in an EPR signal due to an S=3/2 spin system (when spin coupled to the S = 1/2 NO molecule). In haem enzymes, the iron is low spin ferrous, S = 0, and the resulting EPR signal for the NO complex is, therefore, S = 1/2.

As well as iron enzymes, iron storage proteins can react with NO. Ferritin has a complex series of interactions with NO that include signals from S = 1/2and S = 3/2 spin states [97,98]. It is possible that these interactions are responsible for the ability of NO to release iron from ferritin stores [99]. Metallothioneins are small, sulphur-rich metal-binding polypeptides produced in response to a variety of physiological and environmental stresses. In the presence of iron and NO, both apo-metallothionein and Zn-metallothionein form EPR spectra similar to DNIC [100]. Again whether this is due to sulphur residues being removed from the metallothionein, or a genuine interaction of iron, cysteine and NO in an undamaged metallothionein molecule is unclear.

The caveats mentioned earlier about demonstrating that NO is definitely acting at the iron site are especially true for some of the non-haem iron enzymes. NO can directly scavenge free radicals. In the case of lipoxygenase, the products of catalysis are free radicals and in ribonucleotide reductase, a protein-bound tyrosine radical is required for enzyme activity. NO interactions and inhibition may, therefore [14], arise from radical coupling reactions (Eq. 20) rather than direct binding to iron and careful spectroscopy is necessary to distinguish between these possibilities.

$$Tyrosine' + NO' \leftrightarrow Tyrosine - NO$$
(20)

5.4. Iron-sulphur proteins

Following the previous suggestions that NO will react at iron sites free to bind oxygen, most iron– sulphur clusters are unlikely targets for NO inhibition/damage. The electron-transferring iron–sulphur centres in the mitochondrial electron transfer chain are likely to be buried in the protein and, therefore, relatively inaccessible to oxygen or NO. Isolated iron–sulphur clusters, free of protein ligation, are inherently sensitive to oxidation by oxygen. This sensitivity is maintained in some protein-bound clusters. For example, if oxygen is present during the purification of iron–sulphur enzymes from anaerobic bacteria, the clusters are generally irreversibly destroyed [101,102]. As these clusters do not need to bind exogenous ligands for their biological function, it is likely that in aerobic organisms, protective mechanisms to prevent oxygen damage will also prevent NO damage. In this context, it is perhaps not surprising that the best characterised direct inhibition of iron–sulphur enzymes by NO is in enzymes from anaerobic bacteria [103–105]. It seems that insensitivity to NO and O₂ damage has co-evolved in iron–sulphur proteins.

However, whilst pre-formed electron transferring iron–sulphur proteins are, in general, insensitive to NO, it is likely that cluster formation requires lowmolecular-weight iron and sulphur compounds that will be sensitive to the presence of NO in the cell. Thus, NO could indirectly inhibit electron transfer reactions by preventing the formation of new iron– sulphur clusters with the result that function dropped off with the turnover of old proteins in the cell. It has been suggested that this is the reason for the observed toxicity of nitrite used in food preservation towards Clostridial species [101].

The above arguments do not hold for those relatively recently discovered iron–sulphur enzymes with non-redox roles [106]. Here it is frequently necessary for low-molecular-weight compounds (e.g. citrate) to interact with the cluster and it is harder conceptually to see how access to NO could be prevented. These are generally 4Fe–4S clusters. However, only three of the iron atoms have cysteine coordination; the substrate reacts at the non-cysteine coordinated iron (Fe_a). Most notable of these are mitochondrial and cytoplasmic aconitase [107].

The nature of the NO interaction with aconitase is controversial, with some groups suggesting that peroxynitrite is the reactive species [73,74], whereas others have suggested that NO itself is sufficient [108–110]. It is clear that peroxynitrite can rapidly and irreversibly inhibit both mitochondrial and cytoplasmic aconitase activity [73,74]. Oxidation of the active [4Fe–4S]²⁺ cluster results in loss of the noncysteine coordinated Fe_a centre, with subsequent formation of the inactive [3Fe–4S]⁺ cluster [107]. Intriguingly, substrate binding seems to prevent this damage [109], suggesting that peroxynitrite cannot access the iron cluster in the presence of citrate in the active site. C.E. Cooper | Biochimica et Biophysica Acta 1411 (1999) 290-309

High levels (100 µM) of NO can also inhibit aconitase activity [74]. What is less clear is what occurs at physiological (nM) or pathophysiological (low μ M) concentrations of NO. A recent study [109] demonstrated specific NO inactivation of aconitase by attack at the non-cysteine coordinated iron site (with eventual formation of protein-bound iron-sulphur dinitrosyl g = 2.04 EPR signals). In contrast to the situation with peroxynitrite, substrate binding did not prevent this inhibition. However, this spectroscopic study required high concentrations of the protein ($>50 \mu$ M) and consequently high NO concentrations were employed (100 µM 'authentic' NO or the equivalent from slow release NO donors). Even under these conditions, the $t_{1/2}$ for aconitase inhibition was as high as 20 min. However, intriguingly, it has been shown that NO can be a more effective aconitase inhibitor at lower pH or when the enzyme was actively turning over [110]. In agreement with previous studies [73,74], no inhibition of mitochondrial aconitase was observed at pH 7.5 by NO. However, a slow inhibition $(t_{1/2} = 1 h)$ was observed at pH 6.5 for the enzyme at rest. This raises the possibility that during hypoxia or ischaemia, when NO levels can rise in tissue [111] and the pH drops, aconitase may become a more sensitive target for NOmediated damage. Perhaps of greater significance at more physiological pH values inhibition could be observed, but only if the enzyme was actively turning over; this suggests that a turnover intermediate may be susceptible to NO inhibition. The NO concentration was not directly measured in the solution, but assuming perfect equilibration with the gas phase, would have been in the high nM to low µM range and, therefore, of pathophysiological, but not necessarily physiological, relevance.

It has recently been demonstrated that iron metabolism is regulated by cytoplasmic aconitase. Cytoplasmic aconitase is identical [112–114] to the iron regulatory element protein (IRP). This protein can bind to the iron regulatory element (IRE) sequences in the mRNA for ferritin (iron-storage protein), the transferrin receptor (cellular iron import protein) and erythroid 5-aminolevulinate synthase (an enzyme that catalyses haem biosynthesis) [115]. IRP binding represses the translation of mRNA for ferritin and erythroid 5-aminolevulinate synthase, but protects the mRNA for the transferrin receptor from degradation. When the cells are starved of iron, IRE is activated, binds to the mRNAs described above and the consequent post-transcriptional gene regulation assists the cell in accumulating iron, whilst preventing what little iron is present being diverted into storage or haem biosynthesis.

Intriguingly, the activation of IRP is triggered by events at the iron–sulphur cluster. The 4Fe–4S cluster has aconitase activity, but does not bind to the IRE. The apoprotein has no aconitase activity, but does bind to the IRE. The 3Fe–4S cluster has neither aconitase activity nor does it bind to the IRE [116].

It has recently been suggested that NO may play a role in activating the IRP [117]. What is the evidence for this? It is clear that when high (μM) levels of NO are produced in activated rodent macrophages and cell lines, the g = 2.04 DNIC EPR signal can be detected simultaneously with inhibition of cytoplasmic aconitase activity and activation of the IRP [10,118,119]. Addition of 50 µM 'authentic' NO to pure IRP yielded a similar effect i.e. loss of both its aconitase activity and activation of its binding to the IRE [118]. It is not clear whether the cellular effects are due to the direct action of NO on the iron-sulphur cluster, given the relatively high levels of NO required to remove the 4Fe-4S cluster [109] and activate IRE binding in the pure IRP [109]. The situation may be even more problematic in mammalian systems where less NO is generally produced than in the rodent cells and rodent-derived cell lines that have been primarily studied so far. Recent findings have demonstrated that peroxynitrite can activate IRP binding to IRE in vitro [120]. It is therefore possible that in vivo the iron-sulphur cluster oxidation and removal is catalysed by peroxynitrite, rather than NO directly. However, given the finding described above that the enzyme in turnover is more susceptible to NO inhibition [110], it may be that the in vitro studies have not, as yet, been carried out under the correct conditions to measure an effect at lower, more physiological, NO concentrations.

To summarise, when excess NO (μ M) is produced there is a slow inhibition of mitochondrial and cytoplasmic aconitase activity. Mitochondrial respiration is, therefore, inhibited and the IRP activated. It is possible, but not yet proven, that this is solely due to NO binding at the Fe_a centre. The sensitive of the iron–sulphur cluster to peroxynitrite oxidation means that peroxynitrite cannot be ruled out as a mediator of the NO modulation of aconitase activity and IRE binding.

5.5. NO, iron proteins and mitochondrial respiration: what is the target?

There is confusion in the literature about the mechanism by which NO inhibits mitochondrial respiration (see also the review by Brown in this issue [121]). The initial findings suggested that NO, whether added exogenously or via co-culture with cells expressing NO synthase activity, damaged mitochondrial iron-sulphur enzymes and hence inhibited mitochondrial respiration [122–125]. The evidence for this was two-fold: firstly, that the isolated ironsulphur enzyme activity (especially aconitase) was inhibited; and secondly, that g = 2.04 EPR signals from DNIC were formed in the target cells. The latter was assumed to occur from damage to mitochondrial iron-sulphur centres, e.g. aconitase. We, and others, have countered both of these suggestions with the demonstration that the initial target for NO is mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase [5,7,126-128] and that g = 2.04 signals alone do not necessarily correlate with decreases in mitochondrial respiration rate and damage to iron-sulphur enzymes [84]. To add to the confusion, there has been a recent report that the mitochondrial bc_1 complex (complex III) is also a target or NO inhibition [129] and that NO can inhibit NADH dehydrogenase (mitochondrial complex I) by reversibly binding to thiols [9]. Inhibition in the latter case is reversed by glutathione, but becomes significant when mitochondrial glutathione levels decline.

As with many studies with NO, there is some truth in all these assertions, depending on the time scale observed and the cellular NO and O_2 concentrations. If NO is added at nanomolar concentrations to aerobic mitochondria or cells it will undoubtedly inhibit mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase first. The clearest evidence is that the inhibition of cellular respiration is rapid (on a seconds time scale), completely reversible and oxygen concentration dependent [126]. All these properties are identical with the interaction of NO with purified cytochrome oxidase [126,130]. Furthermore, optical spectra demonstrate that cytochrome oxidase haem *a* reduction *increases* following NO addition to isolated mitochondria [7] and cells [126] – this is only possible if electron transfer is blocked between haem *a* and oxygen i.e. at the cytochrome oxidase binuclear centre. Inhibition at aconitase or mitochondrial complexes, I, II or III would all result in an *oxidation* of haem *a*.

However, subsequent to the rapid reversible inhibition of cytochrome oxidase, the situation becomes more complex. Long-term damage to mitochondrial respiration may occur via a variety of subsequent pathways. Peroxynitrite levels rise as superoxide levels are increased when the mitochondrial electron transfer chain is inhibited by NO [131]. Peroxynitrite can irreversibly inhibit mitochondrial complexes I [132], II [71,132] III [71,132], cytochrome oxidase [70,71] and aconitase [73,74]. Persistent longer-term (minutes to hours) incubation with NO itself will lead to a gradual inhibition of mitochondrial complex I, when mitochondrial glutathione levels can no longer protect this enzyme [9]. A slow inhibition of aconitase (over minutes to hours) may also occur especially at higher (µM) NO concentrations [108– 110]. Over a similar time period, EPR signals will be seen from DNIC at g = 2.04 [10,123,125]. Some of these may be due to NO bound to aconitase [109], although it will be difficult to distinguish this fraction from other non-protein-bound low-molecular-weight DNIC [83]. As there are a multitude of irreversible targets for NO and peroxynitrite in mitochondria, disentangling the specific relevant interactions is difficult. Furthermore, peroxynitrite can stimulate mitochondrial respiration by increasing the mitochondrial proton leak rate, either directly by damaging lipids [133] or indirectly by opening the mitochondrial permeability transition pore [134]. It is perhaps not surprising that the literature in this area can appear confusing at times!

To summarise, in the presence of nanomolar concentrations of NO, mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase is inhibited reversibly. Due to the low K_i , this effect will predominate whilst NO is present in the solution. Upon the removal of NO, other less reversible effects can manifest themselves. Given that different enzymes exert different degrees of control over the rate of mitochondrial respiration [135,136], in order to determine the relevance of any irreversible damage, it is not sufficient to measure decreases in the isolated enzyme activity alone. Instead, a careful study varying the substrates for mitochondrial respiration and using specific inhibitors of key steps in both glycolysis, oxidative phosphorylation and ATP utilisation is required to determine the relevant site of inhibition of the cellular respiration rate. It is, of course, possible that inhibition of several pathways may contribute to the overall depression of respiration; the site of the irreversible damage may also vary depending on a number of factors, e.g. cell type, NO/peroxynitrite concentration, length of exposure, mitochondrial glutathione stores. The recent paper by Clementi et al. [9] demonstrating complex I as the site of long-term damage following NO treatment of J774 cells, is a good example of the approach necessary to elucidate which of the many possible targets is relevant.

6. Conclusion

There is little doubt that the interaction of NO with iron proteins is behind many, though by no means all, of the important biological reactions of NO. The range of possible protein targets is due to the varied biological chemistry of NO which can reversibly bind to iron proteins, as well as having the potential to act as an electron donor or an electron acceptor. Many iron proteins have been suggested to have their activity modulated by NO in vivo. With the exception of guanlyate cyclase, the mechanism and physiological relevance of these interactions is still controversial.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all my colleagues at the University of Essex for helpful discussions, especially Peter Nicholls, Jaume Torres, Mike Wilson, Martyn Sharpe, Dimitri Svistunenko and Nathan Davies.

References

- A. Werner, P. Karrer, Über Nitroso-pentamminkobaltisalze, Helv. Chim. Acta 1 (1918) 54–78.
- [2] J.L.C. Thomas, C.W. Bauschlicher, M.B. Hall, Binding of

nitric oxide to first-transition-row metal cations: An ab initio study, J. Phys. Chem. A 101 (1997) 8530–8539.

- [3] J.R. Stone, M.A. Marletta, Soluble guanylate cyclase from bovine lung: activation with nitric oxide and carbon monoxide and spectral characterization of the ferrous and ferric states, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 5636–5640.
- [4] J. Torres, C.E. Cooper, M. Sharpe, M.T. Wilson, Reactivity of nitric oxide with cytochrome *c* oxidase: interactions with the binuclear centre and mechanism of inhibition, J. Bioenerg. Biomemb. 30 (1998) 63–69.
- [5] G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide regulates mitochondrial respiration and cell functions by inhibiting cytochrome oxidase, FEBS Lett. 369 (1995) 136–139.
- [6] C. Giulivi, Functional implications of nitric oxide produced by mitochondria in mitochondrial metabolism, Biochem. J. 332 (1998) 673–679.
- [7] M.W.J. Cleeter, J.M. Cooper, V.M. Darley-Usmar, S. Moncada, A.H.V. Schapira, Reversible inhibition of cytochrome c oxidase, the terminal enzyme of the mitochondrial respiratory chain, by nitric oxide. Implications for neurodegenerative diseases, FEBS Lett. 345 (1994) 50–54.
- [8] G.C. Brown, Reversible binding and inhibition of catalase by nitric oxide, Eur. J. Biochem. 232 (1995) 188–191.
- [9] E. Clementi, G.C. Brown, M. Feelisch, S. Moncada, Persistent inhibition of cell respiration by nitric oxide: crucial role of S-nitrosylation of mitochondrial complex I and protective action of glutathione, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95 (1998) 7631–7636.
- [10] J.C. Drapier, Interplay between NO and [Fe–S] clusters, Methods Companion Methods Enzymol. 11 (1997) 319– 329.
- [11] J.S. Beckman, The physiological and pathological chemistry of nitric oxide in: J.J. Lancaster (Ed.), Nitric Oxide: Principles and Actions, Academic Press, San Diego, 1996, pp. 1– 82.
- [12] F.T. Bonner, G. Stadman, The chemistry of nitric oxide and redox-related species, in: M. Feelisch, J.S. Stamler (Eds.), Methods in Nitric Oxide Research, John Wiley, Chichester, 1996, pp. 3–18.
- [13] T.G. Traylor, V.S. Sharma, Why NO, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 2847–2849.
- [14] M. Fontecave, J.-L. Pierre, The basic chemistry of nitric oxide and its possible biological reactions, Bull. Soc. Chem. Fr. 131 (1994) 620–631.
- [15] G.B. Richter-Addo, P. Legzdins, Metal Nitrosyls, Oxford University Press, New York, 1992.
- [16] J.C. Salerno, Nitric oxide complexes of metalloproteins: an introductory overview, in: J.J. Lancaster (Eds.), Nitric Oxide: Principles and Actions, Academic Press, San Diego, 1996, pp. 83–110.
- [17] Y. Henry, C. Ducrocq, J.-C. Drapier, D. Servent, C. Pellat, A. Guissani, Nitric oxide, a biological effector, Eur. Biophys. J. 20 (1991) 1–15.
- [18] M. Feelisch, J.S. Stamler (Ed.), Methods in Nitric Oxide Research, John Wiley, Chichester, 1996.
- [19] L. Packer (Ed.), Nitric Oxide, Part A, Sources and Detection

of NO; NO Synthase. Methods in Enzymology, Vol. 268, Academic Press, San Diego, 1996.

- [20] L. Packer (Ed.) Nitric Oxide, Part B, Physiological and Pathological Processes. Methods in Enzymology, Vol. 269, Academic Press, San Diego, 1996.
- [21] Y. Henry, A. Guissani, B. Ducastel, Nitric Oxide Research from Chemistry to Biology: EPR Spectroscopy of Nitrosylated Compounds, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1997.
- [22] R. Cassoly, Q.H. Gibson, Conformation, co-operativity and ligand binding in human hemoglobin, J. Mol. Biol. 91 (1975) 301–313.
- [23] V.S. Sharma, H.M. Ranney, The dissociation of NO from nitrosylhemoglobin, J. Biol. Chem. 253 (1978) 6467–6472.
- [24] E.G. Moore, Q.H. Gibson, Cooperativity in the dissociation of nitric oxide from hemoglobin, J. Biol. Chem. 251 (1976) 2788–2794.
- [25] V.G. Kharitonov, V.S. Sharma, D. Magde, D. Koesling, Kinetics of nitric oxide dissociation from five- and six-coordinate nitrosyl hemes and heme proteins, including soluble guanylate cyclase, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 6814–6818.
- [26] P. Ascenzi, M. Coletta, R. Santucci, F. Polizio, A. Desideri, Nitric-oxide binding to ferrous native horse heart cytochrome-c and to its carboxymethylated derivative – a spectroscopic and thermodynamic study, J. Inorg. Biochem. 53 (1994) 273–280.
- [27] M. Hoshino, K. Ozawa, H. Seki, P.C. Ford, Photochemistry of nitric oxide adducts of water soluble iron(III) porphyrin and ferrihemoproteins studied by nanosecond laser photolysis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115 (1993) 9568–9575.
- [28] R.S. Blackmore, C. Greenwood, Q.H. Gibson, Studies of the primary oxygen intermediate in the reaction of fully reduced cytochrome oxidase, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 19245–19249.
- [29] A. Guiffre, P. Sarti, E. D'Itri, G. Buse, T. Soulimane, M. Brunori, On the mechanism of inhibition of cytochrome *c* oxidase by nitric oxide, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 33404– 33408.
- [30] V.G. Kharitonov, M. Russwurm, D. Magde, V.S. Sharma, D. Koesling, Dissociation of nitric oxide from soluble guanylate cyclase, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 239 (1997) 284–286.
- [31] J.R. Stone, M.A. Marletta, Spectral and kinetic studies on the activation of soluble guanylate cyclase by nitric oxide, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 1093–1099.
- [32] D. Littlejohn, S.G. Chang, Kinetic study of ferrous nitrosyl complexes, J. Phys. Chem. 86 (1982) 537–540.
- [33] V. Zang, M. Kotowski, R. van Eldik, Kinetics and mechanism of the formation of FeII(EDTA)NO in the system FeII(EDTA)/NO/HONO/NO₂⁻ in aqueous solutions, Inorg. Chem. 27 (1988) 3279–3283.
- [34] Y. Hishinuma, R. Kaji, H. Akimito, F. Nakajima, T. Mori, T. Komo, Y. Arikawa, S. Nozawa, Reversible binding of NO to Fe(II)edta, Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 52 (1979) 2863– 2865.
- [35] K. Kustin, I.A. Taub, E. Weinstock, A kinetic study of the formation of the ferrous–nitric oxide complex, Inorg. Chem. 5 (1965) 1079–1082.

- [36] C.K. Chang, D. Dolphin, Carbon monoxide binding to pentacoordinate mercaptide-heme complexes: kinetic study on models for cytochrome P-450, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 73 (1976) 3338–3342.
- [37] M.P. Mims, A.G. Porras, J.S. Olson, R.W. Noble, J.A. Peterson, Ligand binding to heme proteins: an evaluation of distal effects, J. Biol. Chem. 248 (1983) 114219–114232.
- [38] V.S. Sharma, J.F. Geibel, H.M. Ranney, 'Tension' on heme by the proximal base and ligand reactivity: conclusions drawn from model compounds for the reaction of hemoglobin, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 75 (1978) 3747–3750.
- [39] R. Cammack, C.E. Cooper, Electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy of iron and iron-containing proteins, Methods Enzymol. 227 (1992) 353–384.
- [40] T. Tomita, T. Ogura, S. Tsuyama, Y. Imai, T. Kitagawa, Effects of GTP on bound nitric oxide of soluble guanylate cyclase probed by resonance Raman spectroscopy, Biochemistry 36 (1997) 10155–10160.
- [41] V.S. Sharma, T.G. Traylor, R. Gardiner, H. Mizukami, Reaction of nitric-oxide with heme-proteins and model compounds of hemoglobin, Biochemistry 26 (1987) 3837–3843.
- [42] V.S. Sharma, R.A. Isaacson, M.E. John, M.R. Waterman, M. Chevion, Reaction of nitric oxide with heme proteins: studies on metmyoglobin, opossum methemoglobin and microperoxidase, Biochemistry 22 (1983) 3897–3902.
- [43] M. Hoshino, M. Maeda, R. Konishi, H. Seki, P.C. Ford, Studies on the reaction mechanism for reductive nitrosylation of ferrihemoproteins in buffer solutions, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 5702–5707.
- [44] M.A. Sharpe, C.E. Cooper, Reactions of nitric oxide with mitochondrial cytochrome c: a novel mechanism for the formation of nitroxyl anion and peroxynitrite, Biochem. J. 332 (1998) 9–19.
- [45] A.W. Addison, J.J. Stephanos, Nitrosyliron(III) hemoglobin: autoreduction and spectroscopy, Biochemistry 25 (1986) 4104–4113.
- [46] N. Maeda, K. Imaizumi, K. Kon, T. Shiga, A kinetic study on functional impairment of nitric oxide-exposed rat erythrocytes, Environ. Health Perspect. 73 (1987) 171–177.
- [47] E.V. Arnold, D.S. Bohle, Isolation and oxygenation reactions of nitrosylmyoglobins, Methods Enzymol. 269 (1996) 41–55.
- [48] T. Yonetani, H. Yamamoto, J.E. Erman, J.S. Leigh Jr., G.H. Reed, Electromagnetic properties of hemoproteins V. optical and electron paramagnetic resonance characteristics of nitric oxide derivatives of metalloporphyrin-apohemoprotein complexes, J. Biol. Chem. 247 (1972) 2447–2455.
- [49] Y. Orii, H. Shimada, Reaction of cytochrome c with nitrite and nitric oxide, J. Biochem. 84 (1978) 1543–1552.
- [50] C.E. Cooper, Ferryl iron and protein free radicals, in: C.A. Rice-Evans, R.H. Burdon (Eds.), Free Radical Damage and its Control, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 1994, pp. 65–109.
- [51] G. Dee, C. Rice-Evans, S. Obeyesekera, S. Mariji, M. Jacobs, The modulation of ferryl myoglobin formation and its oxidative effect on low density lipoproteins by nitric oxide, FEBS Lett. 294 (1991) 38–42.

- [52] N.V. Gorbunov, A.N. Osipov, B.W. Day, B. Zayas-Rivera, V.E. Kagan, N.M. Elsayed, Reduction of ferrylmyoglobin and ferrylhemoglobin by nitric oxide: a protective mechanism against ferryl hemoprotein-induced oxidations, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 6689–6699.
- [53] J. Torres, C.E. Cooper, M.T. Wilson, A common mechanism for the interaction of nitric oxide with the oxidised binuclear centre and oxygen intermediates of cytochrome *c* oxidase, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 8756–8766.
- [54] M.P. Doyle, S.N. Mahapatro, R. Broene, D.J.K. Guy, Oxidation and reduction of hemoproteins by trioxodinitrate(II). The role of nitrosyl hydride and nitrite, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110 (1988) 593–599.
- [55] R.F. Eich, T.S. Li, D.D. Lemon, D.H. Doherty, S.R. Curry, J.F. Aitken, A.J. Mathews, K.A. Johnson, R.D. Smith, G.N. Phillips, J.S. Olson, Mechanism of NO-induced oxidation of myoglobin and hemoglobin, Biochemistry 35 (1996) 6976– 6983.
- [56] L. Jia, C. Bonaventura, J. Bonaventura, J.S. Stamler, S-Nitrosohemoglobin – a dynamic activity of blood involved in vascular control, Nature 380 (1996) 221–226.
- [57] B. Roy, M. Lepoivre, Y. Henry, M. Fontecave, Inhibition of ribonucleotide reductase by nitric-oxide derived from thionitrites – reversible modifications of both subunits, Biochemistry 34 (1995) 5411–5418.
- [58] M. Lepoivre, P. Bobe, Y. Henry, Reversible alteration of ribonucleotide reductase EPR properties in tumor target cells co-cultured with macrophages producing nitric oxide, in: S. Moncada, M. Feelisch, R. Busse, E.A. Higgs (Eds.), Biology of Nitric Oxide, Portland Press, London, 1994, pp. 186–189.
- [59] M. Lepoivre, J.-M. Flaman, P. Bobé, G. Lemaire, Y. Henry, Quenching of the tyrosyl free radical of ribonucleotide reductase by nitric oxide, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 21891– 21897.
- [60] J.S. Stamler, D.J. Singel, J. Loscalzo, Biochemistry of nitric oxide and its redox-activated forms, Science 258 (1992) 1898–1902.
- [61] M.E. Murphy, H. Sies, Reversible conversion of nitroxyl anion to nitric oxide by superoxide dismutase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88 (1991) 10860–10864.
- [62] N. Hogg, R.J. Singh, B. Kalyanaraman, The role of glutathione in the transport and catabolism of nitric oxide, FEBS Lett. 382 (1996) 223–228.
- [63] H. Schmidt, H. Hofmann, U. Schindler, Z.S. Shutenko, D.D. Cunningham, M. Feelisch, No NO from NO synthase, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93 (1996) 14492–14497.
- [64] D.A. Bazylinski, T.C. Hollocher, Metmyoglobin and methemoglobin as efficient traps for nitrosyl hydride (nitroxyl) in neutral aqueous solution, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 107 (1985) 7982–7986.
- [65] C.E. Donald, M.N. Hughes, N. Thompson, F.T. Bonner, Photolysis of the N=N bond in trioxodinitrate: reaction between triplet NO⁻ and O₂ to form peroxynitrite, Inorg. Chem. 25 (1986) 2676–2677.
- [66] D.A. Bazylinski, J. Goretski, T.C. Hollocher, On the reac-

tion of trioxodinitrate(II) with hemoglobin and myoglobin, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 107 (1985) 7986–7989.

- [67] J.S. Beckman, H. Ischiropoulos, L. Zhu, M. van der Woerd, C. Smith, J. Chen, J. Harrison, J.C. Martin, M. Tsai, Kinetics of superoxide dismutase and iron catalyzed nitration of phenolics by peroxynitrite, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 298 (1992) 438–445.
- [68] R. Floris, S.R. Piersma, G. Yang, P. Jones, R. Wever, Interaction of myeloperoxidase with peroxynitrite. A comparison with lactoperoxidase, horseradish peroxidase and catalase, Eur. J. Biochem. 215 (1993) 767–775.
- [69] C.E. Cooper, J. Torres, M.A. Sharpe, M.T. Wilson, D.A. Svistunenko, Peroxynitrite reacts with methemoglobin to generate globin-based free radical species: implications for vascular injury, Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 454 (1998) 195– 202.
- [70] M.A. Sharpe, C.E. Cooper, Interaction of peroxynitrite with mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase: catalytic production of nitric oxide and irreversible inhibition of enzyme activity, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 30961–30972.
- [71] J.P. Bolanos, S.J.R. Heales, J.M. Land, J.B. Clark, Effect of peroxynitrite on the mitochondrial respiratory-chain – differential susceptibility of neurons and astrocytes in primary culture, J. Neurochem. 64 (1995) 1965–1972.
- [72] A.I. Alayash, B.A.B. Ryan, R.E. Cashon, Peroxynitritemediated heme oxidation and protein modification of native and chemically modified hemoglobins, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 349 (1998) 65–73.
- [73] A. Hausladen, I. Fridovich, Superoxide and peroxynitrite inactivate aconitases, but nitric oxide does not, J. Biol. Chem. 47 (1994) 29405–29408.
- [74] L. Castro, M. Rodriguez, R. Radi, Aconitase is readily inactivated by peroxynitrite, but not by its precursor, nitric oxide, J. Biol. Chem. 269 (1994) 29409–29415.
- [75] C.E. Cooper, J.B. Porter, Ribonucleotide reductase, lipoxygenase and the intracellular low-molecular-weight iron pool, Biochem. Soc. Trans. 25 (1996) 75–80.
- [76] R.R. Crichton, Inorganic Biochemistry of Iron Metabolism, Ellis Horwood, Chichester, 1991.
- [77] J.C. Woolum, E. Tiezzi, B. Commoner, ESR of iron-nitric oxide complexes with amino acid and protein ligands, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 160 (1968) 311–320.
- [78] A.F. Vanin, Identification of divalent iron complexes with cysteine in biological systems by the EPR method, Biokhimia 32 (1967) 277–282.
- [79] A.J. Vithayathil, J.L. Ternberg, B. Commoner, Changes in electron spin resonance signals of rat liver during chemical carcinogenesis, Nature 207 (1965) 12246–12249.
- [80] J.K. Shergill, R. Cammack, C.E. Cooper, J.M. Cooper, V. Mann, C.D. Marsden, A.H.V. Schapira, Detection of nitrosyl complexes in human substantia nigra, in relation to Parkinson's disease, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 228 (1996) 298–305.
- [81] Y.A. Henry, D.J. Singel, Metal-nitrosyl interactions in nitric oxide biology probed by electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy, in: M. Feelisch, J.S. Stamler (Eds.), Methods

in Nitric Oxide Research, John Wiley, Chichester, 1996, pp. 357–372.

- [82] D.J. Singel, J.R.J. Lancaster, Electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy and nitric oxide biology, in: M. Feelisch, J.S. Stamler (Eds.), Methods in Nitric Oxide Research, John Wiley, Chichester, 1996, pp. 341–356.
- [83] A.F. Vanin, G.B. Men'shikov, I.A. Moroz, P.I. Mordvintcev, V.A. Serezhenkov, D.S. Burbaev, The source of nonheme iron that binds nitric oxide in cultivated macrophages, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1135 (1992) 275–279.
- [84] C.E. Cooper, G.C. Brown, The interactions between nitric oxide and brain nerve terminals as studied by electron paramagnetic resonance, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 212 (1995) 404–412.
- [85] J.C. Salerno, T. Ohnishi, Tetranuclear and binuclear ironsulfur clusters in succinate dehydrogenase: a method of iron quantitation by formation of paramagnetic complexes, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 73 (1976) 833–840.
- [86] L.J. Kubrina, W.S. Caldwell, P.I. Mordvintcev, I.V. Malenkova, A.F. Vanin, EPR evidence for nitric oxide production from guanidino nitrogens of L-arginine in animal tissues in vivo, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1099 (1992) 233–237.
- [87] T. Yoshimura, H. Yokoyama, S. Fujii, F. Takayama, K. Oikawa, H. Kamada, In-vivo Epr detection and imaging of endogenous nitric-oxide in lipopolysaccharide-treated mice, Nat. Biotech. 14 (1996) 992–994.
- [88] R.G. Knowles, S. Moncada, Nitric oxide synthases in mammals, Biochem. J. 298 (1994) 249–258.
- [89] N. Newton, The two-haem nitrite reductase of *Micrococcus denitrificans*, Biochim. Biophys Acta 185 (1969) 316–331.
- [90] B.A. Averill, Dissimilatory nitrite and nitric oxide reductases, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 2951–2964.
- [91] N.E. Rogers, L.J. Ignarro, Constitutive nitric oxide synthase from rat cerebellum is reversibly inhibited by nitric oxide formed from L-arginine, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 189 (1992) 242–249.
- [92] Q. Wang, J. Jacobs, J. DeLeo, H. Kruszyna, R. Kruszyna, R. Smith, D. Wilcox, Nitric oxide hemoglobin in mice and rats in endotoxic shock, Life Sci. 49 (1991) PL55–PL60.
- [93] M.J. Nelson, The nitric oxide complex of ferrous soybean lipoxygenase-1 – substrate, pH, and ethanol effects on the active-site iron, J. Biol. Chem. 262 (1987) 12137–12142.
- [94] B. Kalyanaraman, Detection of nitric oxide by electron spin resonance in chemical, photochemical, cellular, physiological, and pathophysiological systems, Methods Enzymol. 268 (1996) 168–187.
- [95] H. Twilfer, F.H. Bernhardt, K. Gersonde, Dioxygen-activating iron center in putidamonooxin – electron-spin resonance investigation of the nitrosylated putidamonooxin, Eur. J. Biochem. 147 (1985) 171–176.
- [96] H. Rubbo, S. Parthasarathy, S. Barnes, M. Kirk, B. Kalyanaraman, B.A. Freeman, Nitric-oxide inhibition of lipoxygenase-dependent liposome and low-density-lipoprotein oxidation – termination of radical-chain propagation reactions and formation of nitrogen-containing oxidized lipid derivatives, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 324 (1995) 15–25.

- [97] N.E. LeBrun, M.A. Cheeseman, A.J. Thomson, G.R. Moore, S.C. Andrews, J.R. Guest, P.M. Harrison, An epr investigation of non-haem iron sites in *Escherichia coli* bacterioferritin and their interaction with phosphate – a study using nitric oxide as a spin probe, FEBS Lett. 323 (1993) 261–266.
- [98] M.H. Lee, P. Arosio, A. Cozzi, N.D. Chasteen, Identification of the EPR-active iron nitrosyl complexes in mammalian ferritins, Biochemistry 33 (1994) 3679–3687.
- [99] N.E. LeBrun, S.C. Andrews, G.R. Moore, A.J. Thomson, Interaction of nitric oxide with non-haem iron sites of Escherichia coli bacterioferritin: reduction of nitric oxide to nitrous oxide and oxidation of iron(II) to iron(III), Biochem. J. 326 (1997) 173–179.
- [100] M.C. Kennedy, T. Gau, W.E. Antholine, D.H. Petering, Metallothionein reacts with Fe^{2+} and NO to form products with a g = 2.039 ESR signal, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 29 (1993) 632–635.
- [101] M.J. Payne, L.F.J. Woods, P. Gibbs, R. Cammack, Electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopic investigation of the inhibition of the phosphoroclastic system of *Clostridium sporogens* by nitrite, J. Gen. Microbiol. 136 (1990) 2067– 2076.
- [102] B.A. Lazazzera, H. Beinert, N. Khoroshilova, M.C. Kennedy, P.J. Kiley, Dna-binding and dimerization of the Fe– S-containing Fnr protein from Escherichia-coli are regulated by oxygen, J. Biol. Chem. 271 (1996) 2762–2768.
- [103] M.R. Hyman, L.C. Seefeldt, T.V. Morgan, D.J. Arp, L.E. Mortenson, Kinetic and spectroscopic analysis of the inactivating effects of nitric oxide on the individual components of *Azotobacter vinelandii*, Biochemistry 31 (1992) 2947– 2955.
- [104] J. Meyer, Comparison of carbon monoxide, nitric oxide and nitrite as inhibitors of the nitrogenase from *Clostridium pasterianum*, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 210 (1981) 246– 256.
- [105] W.P. Michalski, D.J.D. Nicholas, Inhibition of nitrogenase by nitrite and nitric oxide in *Rhodopseudomonas sphaeroides* f. sp. *denitrificans*, Arch. Microbiol. 147 (1987) 304–308.
- [106] D.H. Flint, R.M. Allen, Iron-sulfur proteins with nonredox functions, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 2315–2334.
- [107] H. Beinert, M.C. Kennedy, C.D. Stout, Aconitase as ironsulfur protein, enzyme and iron-regulatory protein, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 2335–2373.
- [108] J. Stadler, T.R. Billiar, R.D. Curran, D.J. Stuehr, J.B. Ochoa, R.L. Simmons, Effect of exogenous and endogenous nitric oxide on mitochondrial respiration of rat hepatocytes, Am. J. Physiol. 260 (1991) C910–916.
- [109] M.C. Kennedy, W.E. Antholine, H. Beinert, An EPR investigation of the products of the reaction of cytosolic and mitochondrial aconitases with nitric oxide, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 20340–20347.
- [110] P.R. Gardner, G. Costantino, C. Szabo, A.L. Salzman, Nitric oxide sensitivity of the aconitases, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 25071–25076.
- [111] J.L. Zweier, P.H. Wang, A. Samouilov, P. Kuppusamy,

Enzyme-independent formation of nitric-oxide in biological tissues, Nat. Med. 1 (1995) 804–809.

- [112] D.J. Haile, T.A. Rouault, C.K. Tang, J. Chin, J.B. Harford, R.D. Klausner, Reciprocal control of RNA-binding and aconitase activity in the regulation of the iron-responsive element binding-protein – role of the iron–sulfur cluster, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89 (1992) 7536–7540.
- [113] T.A. Rouault, C.D. Stout, S. Kaptain, J.B. Harford, R.D. Klausner, Structural relationship between an iron-regulated rna-binding protein (IRE-BP) and aconitase – functional implications, Cell 64 (1991) 881–883.
- [114] T.A. Rouault, D.J. Haile, W.E. Downey, C.C. Philpott, C. Tang, F. Samaniego, J. Chin, I. Paul, D. Orloff, J.B. Harford, R.D. Klausner, An iron sulfur cluster plays a novel regulatory role in the iron-responsive element binding-protein, Biometals 5 (1992) 131–140.
- [115] L.C. Kuhn, M.W. Hentze, Coordination of cellular ironmetabolism by posttranscriptional gene-regulation, J. Inorg. Biochem. 47 (1992) 183–195.
- [116] D.J. Haile, T.A. Rouault, J.B. Harford, M.C. Kennedy, G.A. Blondin, H. Beinert, R.D. Klausner, Cellular-regulation of the iron-responsive element binding-protein – disassembly of the cubane iron-sulfur cluster results in highaffinity RNA-binding, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 89 (1992) 11735–11739.
- [117] K. Pantopoulous, G. Weiss, M.W. Hentze, Nitric oxide and the post-translational control of cellular iron traffic, Trends. Cell. Biol. 4 (1994) 82–85.
- [118] J.C. Drapier, H. Hirling, J. Wietzerbin, P. Kaldy, L.C. Kuhn, Biosynthesis of nitric-oxide activates iron regulatory factor in macrophages, EMBO J. 12 (1993) 3643–3649.
- [119] G. Weiss, B. Goossen, W. Doppler, D. Fuchs, K. Pantopoulos, G. Wernerfelmayer, H. Wachter, M.W. Hentze, Translational regulation via iron-responsive elements by the nitric-oxide NO-synthase pathway, EMBO J. 12 (1993) 3651–3657.
- [120] C. Bouton, H. Hirling, J.C. Drapier, Redox modulation of iron regulatory proteins by peroxynitrite, J. Biol. Chem. 272 (1997) 19969–19975.
- [121] G.C. Brown, Nitric oxide and mitochondrial respiration, Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1411 (1999) 351–369.
- [122] J. Stadler, H.A. Bergonia, M. Di Silvio, M.A. Sweetland, T.R. Billiar, R.L. Simmons, J.R. Lancaster Jr., Nonheme iron-nitrosyl complex formation in rat hepatocytes: detection by electron paramagnetic resonance spectroscopy, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 302 (1993) 4–11.
- [123] J. Drapier, C. Pellat, Y. Henry, Generation of EPR-detectable nitrosyl-iron complexes in tumor target cells co-cultured with activated macrophages, J. Biol. Chem. 266 (1991) 10162–10167.

- [124] J.B. Hibbs, R.R. Taintor, Z. Vavrin, E.M. Rachlin, Nitric oxide: a cytotoxic activated macrophage effector molecule, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 157 (1988) 87–94.
- [125] J.R. Lancaster Jr., J.B. Hibbs Jr., EPR demonstration of iron–nitrosyl complex formation by cytotoxic activated macrophages, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 87 (1990) 1223–1227.
- [126] G.C. Brown, C.E. Cooper, Nanomolar concentrations of nitric oxide reversibly inhibit synaptosomal cytochrome oxidase respiration by competing with oxygen at cytochrome oxidase, FEBS Lett. 356 (1994) 295–298.
- [127] G.C. Brown, J.P. Bolanos, S.J.R. Heales, J.B. Clark, Nitric oxide produced by activated astrocytes rapidly and reversibly inhibits cellular respiration, Neurosci. Lett. 193 (1995) 201–204.
- [128] M. Schweizer, C. Richter, Nitric oxide potently and reversibly deenergizes mitochondria at low oxygen tension, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 204 (1994) 169–175.
- [129] J.J. Poderoso, M.C. Carreras, C. Lisdero, N. Riobo, F. Schopfer, A. Boveris, Nitric oxide inhibits electron transfer and increases superoxide radical production in rat heart mitochondria and submitochondrial particles, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328 (1996) 85–92.
- [130] J. Torres, V. Darley-Usmar, M.T. Wilson, Inhibition of cytochrome *c* oxidase in turnover by nitric oxide: mechanism and implications for control of respiration, Biochem. J. 312 (1995) 169–173.
- [131] M.A. Packer, C.M. Porteous, M.P. Murphy, Superoxide production by mitochondria in the presence of nitric-oxide forms peroxynitrite, Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int. 40 (1996) 527–534.
- [132] A. Cassina, R. Radi, Differential inhibitory-action of nitricoxide and peroxynitrite on mitochondrial electron-transport, Arch. Biochem. Biophys. 328 (1996) 309–316.
- [133] P.S. Brookes, J.M. Land, J.B. Clark, S.J.R. Heales, Peroxynitrite and brain mitochondria: evidence for increased proton leak, J. Neurochem. 70 (1998) 2195–2202.
- [134] M.A. Packer, M.P. Murphy, Peroxynitrite formed by simultaneous nitric-oxide and superoxide generation causes cyclosporine-a-sensitive mitochondrial calcium efflux and depolarization, Eur. J. Biochem. 234 (1995) 231–239.
- [135] G.C. Brown, Control of respiration and ATP synthesis in mammalian mitochondria and cells, Biochem. J. 284 (1992) 1–13.
- [136] M.D. Brand, M.P. Murphy, Control of electron flux through the respiratory chain in mitochondria and cells, Biol. Rev. 62 (1987) 141–193.